2008

# Gillmor v. Blue Ledge Corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## I. JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court took jurisdiction, initially, pursuant to UTAH CODE ANN. § 78A-3-102(3)(j). The Utah Supreme Court transferred this appeal<sup>1</sup> for decision to this Court, the Utah Court of Appeals, pursuant to UTAH CODE ANN. § 78A-3-102(4).

## II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

### Issue 1 and Standard of Review:

Appellee moved for summary judgment on its affirmative counterclaim to quiet title to certain real property. Did the trial court err in how it applied the respective procedural burdens borne by the parties? The standard of review for that issue is correctness. See *Orvis v. Johnson*, 2008 UT 2, ¶¶ 1 & 6, 117 P.3d 600, 601.

### Issue 2.a. and Standard of Review:

Did the trial court also then err in quieting title in appellee, determining that no title passed to appellant's predecessor in interest, via patent, in 1930? The standard of review for that issue is correctness. *Orvis*, 117 P.3d at 601. ("An appellate court reviews a trial court's 'legal conclusions and ultimate grant or denial of summary judgment' for correctness.") (*quoting Massey v. Griffiths*, 2007 UT 10, ¶ 8, 152 P.3d 312); see also, *Harmon City, Inc. v. Nielsen & Senior*, 907 P.2d 1162, 1167 (Utah 1995) ("Because the propriety of ... a summary judgment ... presents questions of law, we accord no deference to the trial court's determinations and review the issues under a correctness standard.") & *Hermansen v. Tasulis*, 2002 UT 52, at ¶10, 48 P.3d 235, 238 ("We review the trial court's summary judgment for correctness, considering only whether the trial court correctly applied the law and correctly concluded that no disputed

---

<sup>1</sup> By order dated June 16, 2008, this Court consolidated CA-20080358 with this appeal as both are from judgments in the same trial court proceeding.

issues of material fact existed.”).

**Issue 2.b. and Standard of Review:**

Did the trial court err when it ruled that appellant could not assert the federal statutory six-year statute of limitations defense to bar appellee’s quiet title counterclaim? The standard of review for that issue is correctness based on the same case law cited as to Issue 2.a., *supra*.

**Issue 3 and Standard of Review:**

Did the trial court err in 2007 when, in spite of the parties’ joint inaction since the 2005 summary judgment ruling hearing, it dismissed with prejudice appellant’s claims and defenses based on adverse possession for failure to prosecute them but did not also dismiss with prejudice appellee’s counterclaim? A trial court’s order dismissing an action with prejudice for failure to prosecute is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. *Rohan v. Boseman*, 2002 UT App 109, ¶ 15, 46 P.3d 753, 756.

**III. STATUTES AND RULES OF IMPORTANCE TO THE APPEAL**

**UTAH R. CIV. P. 41(b). Dismissal of Actions.**

(b) Involuntary dismissal; effect thereof. For failure of the plaintiff to prosecute or to comply with these rules or any order of court, a defendant may move for dismissal of an action or of any claim against him. After the plaintiff, in an action tried by the court without a jury, has completed the presentation of his evidence the defendant, without waiving his right to offer evidence in the event the motion is not granted, may move for a dismissal on the ground that upon the facts and the law the plaintiff has shown no right to relief. The court as trier of the facts may then determine them and render judgment against the plaintiff or may decline to render any judgment until the close of all the evidence. If the court renders judgment on the merits against the plaintiff, the court shall make findings as provided in Rule 52(a). Unless the court in its order for dismissal otherwise specifies, a dismissal under this subdivision and any dismissal not provided for in this rule, other than a dismissal for lack of jurisdiction or for improper venue or for lack of an indispensable party, operates as an adjudication upon the merits.

///

#### **UTAH R. CIV. P. 56(a) & (c)-(e). Summary judgment.**

(a) For claimant. A party seeking to recover upon a claim, counterclaim, or cross-claim or to obtain a declaratory judgment may, at any time after the expiration of 20 days from the commencement of the action or service of a motion for summary judgment by the adverse party, move for summary judgment upon all or any part thereof.

(c) Motion and proceedings thereon. The motion, memoranda and affidavits shall be in accordance with Rule 7. The judgment sought shall be rendered if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. A summary judgment, interlocutory in character, may be rendered on the issue of liability alone although there is a genuine issue as to the amount of damages.

(d) Case not fully adjudicated on motion. If on motion under this rule judgment is not rendered upon the whole case or for all the relief asked and a trial is necessary, the court at the hearing of the motion, by examining the pleadings and the evidence before it and by interrogating counsel, shall if practicable ascertain what material facts exist without substantial controversy and what material facts are actually and in good faith controverted. It shall thereupon make an order specifying the facts that appear without substantial controversy, including the extent to which the amount of damages or other relief is not in controversy, and directing such further proceedings in the action as are just. Upon the trial of the action the facts so specified shall be deemed established, and the trial shall be conducted accordingly.

(e) Form of affidavits; further testimony; defense required. Supporting and opposing affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein. Sworn or certified copies of all papers or parts thereof referred to in an affidavit shall be attached thereto or served therewith. The court may permit affidavits to be supplemented or opposed by depositions, answers to interrogatories, or further affidavits. When a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as provided in this rule, an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of the pleadings, but the response, by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. Summary judgment, if appropriate, shall be entered against a party failing to file such a response.

#### **43 U.S.C. § 1166. Limitations of suits to annul patents**

Suits by the United States to vacate and annul any patent shall only be brought within six years after the date of the issuance of such patents.

///



## **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **A. Nature of the Case**

This case involves competing claims of title under federal patents to about thirty one acres in Summit County, Utah. Almost eighty years ago, a regional federal land office in Salt Lake City issued two certain patents, the Clegg mining patent in 1929 and the Clark homestead grazing patent in 1930. Ownership claims arising from them have come into conflict between Gillmor, who is the successor to the Clark patent, and Blue Ledge, which is the successor to the Clegg patent, as follows.

In 1917, a person named John A. Clark applied for a homestead grazing patent. Mr. Clark was married to Johanna A. Clark. After Mr. Clark's death, Ms. Clark was substituted on the Clark homestead patent application. Between 1925 and 1927, a person named Charles L. Clegg formally protested Ms. Clark's patent application in a land office administrative proceeding. In 1929, the United States issued Mr. Clegg a mining patent. In 1930— after and notwithstanding Mr. Clegg's protest to the Clark application— the same land office issued Ms. Clark a homestead patent.

Appellant maintains that Ms. Clark was a successor in ownership to the United States via her homestead patent. Mr. Clegg had six years to file an action to try and annul the Clark Patent. Mr. Clegg never challenged the issuance of the Clark patent.

### **B. Course of Proceedings & Disposition By Trial Court**

In November 2005, a trial court of the Third Judicial District in the Summit County Department denied Blue Ledge's motion for summary judgment as to Gillmor's adverse possession claim and granted partial summary judgment to Blue Ledge on its quiet title claim subject to the outcome of Gillmor's adverse possession claim. In deciding Blue Ledge's motion for summary judgment, the trial court acknowledged that the evidence

raised unanswered questions about the parties' conflicting claims of right. Yet, the Court granted Blue Ledge's motion. The trial court rested exclusively on an incorrect legal presumption advanced by Blue Ledge that a patent that issues second in time is void from the beginning. The District Court wrote on November 8, 2005:

"While the court would like to give a presumption of regularity to the 1930 [Clark] patent, the court sees no possible benefit in making a factual determination about the incidents of that day. Nothing could be provided that is meaningful, in the court's mind, to the events of that day and why things happened as they did. No witnesses should shed any light on motivation and meaning, and the court believes the 1929 [Clegg] patent conveys title and it is unbroken to defendant [Blue Ledge.]

## DISCUSSION

### QUIET TITLE

As to the motion concerning this claim of defendants, the court finds no factual disputes that are material and judgment should be granted as a matter of law to defendant.

The 1929 [Clegg] patent makes any further attempts at conveyance, or any later patents of the same, void, *ab initio*. The statute of limitations applies only to the United States or its successors, and is not applicable here. A collateral attack on the homestead [Clark] patent is allowed by defendant. The Court sees nothing but a legal dispute about the effect of these 1929 and 1930 patents."

®. 436-437)

So, in spite of an applicable legal presumption advanced by Gillmor— *viz.*, that a patent is presumed valid if issued— and in spite of evidence tending to rebut the incorrect legal presumption advanced by Blue Ledge, the trial court resolved what it saw as "nothing but a legal dispute" by choosing the legal presumption that led to summary judgment and that essentially avoided an adjudication of the facts demonstrating conflicting claims of right.

Neither party moved the case forward until, in September 2007, Gillmor approached Blue Ledge regarding settlement and indicated that she would file a motion

to revisit the partial summary judgment on the federal patent conflict if settlement did not occur. In October 2007, Blue Ledge's response to that settlement overture was to file, under UTAH R. CIV. P. 41(b), a motion to dismiss Gillmor's adverse possession claim for failure to prosecute it. Also in October 2007, Gillmor certified her adverse possession claim ready for trial and filed, under UTAH R. CIV. P. 54(b), a motion requesting the trial court to reconsider its 2005 summary judgment ruling. The trial court denied Gillmor's motion but granted Blue Ledge's motion, dismissing Gillmor's adverse possession claim with prejudice in December 2007.

In January 2008, Gillmor moved, under UTAH R. CIV. P. 60(b), for the trial court in the interests of justice to dismiss both parties' claims since both had failed to prosecute them, or alternatively, dismiss her claim without prejudice. The trial court denied that motion. On March 21, 2008, the trial court entered a final judgment for Blue Ledge from which this appeal lies. R. 645-647 & Addendum hereto.

**C. Brief Statement of the Facts of the Case**

1. The real property at issue in this case comprises portions of the surface estate of three patented alleged mining claims. It is hereafter referred to as "the disputed property." R. 359 & 396.

2. In 1917, John Clark applied to the United States of America Department of the Interior, within the regional Land Office located in Salt Lake City, Utah ("Land Office"), for a homestead patent on land on which he had made entry, land that includes the disputed property. Ex. A to R. 522-526.

3. Between 1917 and 1926, Mr. Clark died and Ms. Johanna A. Clark his widowed spouse was substituted for Mr. Clark on the homestead patent application. Ex. A to R. 522-526.

4. Between 1925 and 1927, Charles D. Clegg protested Ms. Clark's patent application in an administrative proceeding before the Land Office docketed as "Contest No. 4781." Ex. A to R. 522-526 & Ex. A to 536-539.

5. The crux of Contest No. 4781 was Mr. Clegg's allegation of mining claims, underneath the ground of the disputed property, that allegedly dated back to before Mr. Clark's 1917 homestead patent application, specifically, alleged to date to 1916. Ex. A to R. 522-526 & Ex. A to 536-539.

6. Ms. Clark at one point, but for a reason not apparent from the record of Contest No. 4781 that is a part of the record of this case, conceded to judgment to at least some part of Mr. Clegg's protest. Exs. A, B & C to 536-539.

7. On May 22, 1929, the Land Office issued as to the disputed property a mining patent to Mr. Clegg, the predecessor in interest of appellant Blue Ledge. Ex. C to R. 332-352.

8. On December 20, 1930, the Land Office issued as to the disputed property the homestead patent for which Mr. and Ms. Clark had applied. Ex. A of Att. 1 to R. 358-383.

9. Mr. Clegg never filed an action challenging the Clark patent.

10. As part of a Judgment and Decree of Partition entered on February 14, 1981, in a partition action initiated by Edward L. Gillmor in the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, Civil No. 223998, Frank Charles Gillmor was awarded certain real property located in Summit County, Utah, which was part of a larger parcel more particularly known as the Clark Ranch Property. The Clark Ranch includes the disputed property. ¶ 5 of Att. 3 to R. 358-383 & Att. 4 to R. 358-383.

11. The source title document for the Clark Ranch Property is the Clark Patent. ¶ 6 of & Ex. A to Att. 3, to R. 358-383.

12. The appellant Nadine Gillmor is the spouse of the since deceased Frank Gillmor and title of the Clark Ranch passed to her in 1995 when Frank Gillmor died. ¶¶'s 1-3 of Att. 3 to R. 358-383.

13. In 1983, the United Park City Mines Company (hereinafter "United Park") claimed title to the surface of certain portions of the Clark Ranch by reason of mining claims which United Park held descended down from the Clegg Patent. Included in the surface rights claimed by United Park was an alleged overlap of the Clegg Patent onto part of the Clark Ranch. Frank and Mrs. Gillmor instructed Frank's attorneys, Hal Christensen and H. James Clegg, to try and resolve these conflicts with United Park, but a settlement was never reached. ¶¶'s 7-13 of Att. 3 to R. 358-383 & Atts. 2 & 4 to R. 358-383.

14. In each of the years from 1983 through November, 1995, the portion of the Clark Ranch Property awarded to Frank was leased by Frank and/or Mrs. Gillmor to others who used the property for livestock grazing. From 1983 through 1995, Mrs. Gillmor visited the Clark Ranch Property each year during the grazing season and often several times per year. As a consequence of these visits, Mrs. Gillmor knows that the Clark Ranch Property, including the disputed area in the Northwest Quarter of Section 11, was all unfenced and open pasture and that pasture was grazed by Frank and Mrs. Gillmor's lessees during each of those years. Mrs. Gillmor is unaware of any other use under claim of right or title that was made on the Clark Ranch Property including the disputed area in Section 11 during any of those years. ¶ 14 of Att. 3 to R. 358-383.

15. In each of the years from 1983 through 1995, the Summit County

Assessor's Office assessed property taxes against the surface ownership on the Clark Ranch Property, including the property on which the Clegg and Woodrow mining claims overlapped. The property tax notices pertaining to said surface ownership of the Clark Ranch Property were sent to Frank and/or Mrs. Gillmor in each of those years and Frank and Mrs. Gillmor timely paid those property taxes. ¶ 15 of and Ex. B to Att. 3, to R. 358-383.

16. In 1995, Mrs. Gillmor sued Blue Ledge Corporation for adverse possession and Blue Ledge Corporation counterclaimed to quiet title claiming that the Clegg and Woodrow Mining Claims voided the Clark Patent. R. 114-118 & 135-152.

## **V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Appellant Gillmor respectfully submits that the trial court has made several decisions requiring reversal. In considering appellee Blue Ledge's motion for summary judgment, it did not apply the correct procedural burden on Blue Ledge or accord Gillmor the benefit of legal presumptions and reasonable evidentiary inferences. The trial court also did not look to the correct federal laws in determining Blue Ledge was entitled to judgment as a matter of law and Gillmor could not avail herself of an applicable statute of limitations. Finally, when both parties had delayed the trial court abused its discretion in dismissing Gillmor's claim certified for trial but awarded Blue Ledge a final judgment on its counterclaim.

## **VI. ARGUMENT**

### **I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT HOLD BLUE LEDGE TO THE CORRECT PROCEDURAL BURDEN IT WAS REQUIRED TO MEET TO OBTAIN PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON ITS AFFIRMATIVE QUIET TITLE CLAIM.**

Blue Ledge moved for summary judgment on *its* claim to quiet title. Blue Ledge

thus needed to “show both that there is no material issue of fact *and* that [it] the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” *Orvis v. Johnson*, 2008 UT 2, ¶ 10, 117 P.3d 600, 602 (*citing* UTAH R. CIV. P. 56(c))(emphasis in original).

Where the moving party would bear the burden of proof at trial, the movant must establish each element of his claim in order to show that he is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. In order to meet his initial burden on summary judgment, therefore, [Appellees] must [have] present[ed] evidence sufficient to establish that [quieting title in its favor] is appropriate under the facts of the case, and that no material issues of fact remain. The burden on summary judgment then shifts to the nonmoving party [Appellants] to identify contested material facts, or legal flaws in the [claim that title should be quieted in Appellee].

*Id.* Appellant respectfully submits that the trial court did not hold Blue Ledge to that burden.

Also, it is settled that “[d]oubts, uncertainties or inferences concerning issues of fact must be construed in the light most favorable to the party opposing summary judgment. Litigants must be able to present their cases fully to the court before judgment can be rendered against them unless it is obvious from the evidence before the court that the party opposing judgment can establish no right to recovery. The trial court must not weigh evidence or assess credibility.” *Mountain States Telephone & Telegraph Co. v. Atkin, Wright & Miles, Chartered*, 681 P.2d 1258, 1261 (Utah 1984) (footnotes omitted).

**A. A STRONG PRESUMPTION EXISTS IN FAVOR OF THE VALIDITY OF THE CLARK PATENT.**

At the threshold of the trial court’s inquiry on summary judgment, it was confronted with the strong presumption in that the Clark Patent held by Gillmor is valid in all respects. The United States Supreme Court has commanded that this presumption be afforded to the Clark Patent, as being one of the variety of federal land patents:

**[A]ll the presumptions are in favor of the validity of the title**, and in regard to which a wise policy has forbidden that they should be thus attacked, and those like the present, in which an action is brought in a court of chancery to vacate, to set aside, or to annul the patent itself, or other evidence of title from the United States, is very obvious.

*United States v. Maxwell Land-Grant Co. et al*, 121 U.S. 325, 379 7 S.Ct.1015, 1028

(1887)(citing *United States v. Throckmorton*, 98 U.S. 61). In order to overcome that strong presumption, clear and convincing evidence is required:

In either case, however, the deliberate action of the tribunals, to which the law commits the determination of all preliminary questions and the control of the processes by which this evidence of title is issued to the grantee, ***demands that to annul such an instrument and destroy the title claimed under it, the facts on which this action is asked for must be clearly established by evidence entirely satisfactory to the court***, and that the case itself must be within the class of causes for which such an instrument may be avoided.

*Id.* (emphasis added). Also,

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