2008

# Gillmor v. Blue Ledge Corporation : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

Gillmor is trying to complicate and confuse a very simple matter: the United States conveyed fee title to the Patented Claims to the predecessor-in-interest of Blue Ledge on May 22, 1929. That this May 22, 1929 Patent conveyed fee title (surface and mineral estates) to the land is a simple matter of law which can be ascertained from the patent itself. After May 22, 1929, the United States no longer had title to the Patented Claims and could not convey title to Gillmor's predecessor-in-interest on December 20, 1930. All of Gillmor's "red-herring" arguments, including surface use limitations for unpatented mining claims, unsupported tales of what "might have happened" at the Land Office, and a six-year statute of limitations for the United States, are simply inapplicable.

Gillmor's adverse possession claim was dismissed for her failure to prosecute her claim for over thirteen years and her failure to provide any reasonable excuse or good cause for her failure to prosecute. Moreover, while Gillmor's adverse possession claim was pending in the district court for over thirteen years, Blue Ledge was precluded from developing the Patented Claims on

which it had spent time and money constructing the infrastructure for a residential subdivision.

Finally, Blue Ledge moved for entry of a final judgment in this case as soon as Gillmor's adverse possession claim had been dismissed. Furthermore, a real property description in a final judgment to quiet title in real property is a basic necessity—not a matter for which a party must request "further" or "affirmative relief."

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. BLUE LEDGE HAS SATISFIED ITS BURDEN OF PROOF TO QUIET TITLE TO THE PATENTED CLAIMS IN BLUE LEDGE.**

In order to succeed in an action to quiet title, a party must "prevail on the strength of his own claim to title and not on the defendant's weakness of title."

[\*Kelly v. Hard Money Funding, Inc.\*, 87 P.3d 734, 740 \(Utah Ct. App. 2004\).](#)

Where both parties claim ownership through different chains of title, each party must assume the burden of establishing its title by competent evidence. [\*Dunlap v. Stichting Mayflower Mountain Fonds\*, 76 P.3d 711, 713 \(Utah Ct. App. 2003\).](#) If, as in the instant case, a party can make a prima facie showing of title, the burden is on the opposing party to controvert the evidence of title. [\*Babock v. Dangerfield\*, 94 P.2d 862, 863 \(Utah 1939\).](#)

In Blue Ledge's motion for summary judgment to quiet title in Blue Ledge to the Patented Claims, Blue Ledge included a certified copy of the Blue Ledge 1929

Patent, granting Blue Ledge's predecessor-in-interest, fee simple title to the Patented Claims, including the surface and mineral estates. The chain of title to the Patented Claims was then traced, by attached certified copies of deeds, to United Park City Mines Company, and then by a deed to the surface estate to Blue Ledge. ([R. 332-352, Ex. C, F, G & H](#)). Thus, Blue Ledge clearly demonstrated an unbroken chain of title dating from the Blue Ledge 1929 Patent.

Because the Blue Ledge 1929 Patent was issued prior to the Gillmor 1930 Patent, Blue Ledge has satisfied its burden to show its record title to the Patented Claims. In issuing the Gillmor 1930 Patent, dated December 20, 1930, the United States could not convey away rights which it no longer held in the Patented Claims, and the Gillmor 1930 Patent could not cut off previously existing vested rights held by the owner of the Blue Ledge 1929 Patent. See [Montgomery v. Gerlinger](#), 304 P.2d 93, 95-96 (Cal. Ct. App. 1956); [People v. Dorr](#), 157 P.2d 859, 861 (Cal. Ct. App. 1945); [Ames v. Empire Star Mines Co., Ltd.](#), 110 P.2d 13, 17 (Cal. 1941); [Brown v. Luddy](#), 9 P.2d 326, 331 (Cal. Ct. App. 1932) ("A patent of the government cannot, any more than a deed of an individual, transfer what the grantor does not possess.").

By demonstrating its paramount record title to the Patented Claims, Blue Ledge satisfied its burden of proof to quiet title in Blue Ledge to the Patented Claims. Title is a matter of the plain language in the Blue Ledge 1929 Patent. It is



a question of law; there are no issues of fact. Moreover, Blue Ledge need not speculate as to why the United States made a clerical error in issuing the Gillmor 1930 Patent after it had issued the Blue Ledge 1929 Patent for the Patented Claims. Such speculation is irrelevant and pointless. Blue Ledge need only provide certified copies of its 1929 Patent and an unbroken chain of deeds to Blue Ledge in order to satisfy its burden of proof to quiet title in Blue Ledge to the Patented Claims.

**II. FEE TITLE TO THE PATENTED CLAIMS WAS CONVEYED FROM THE UNITED STATES TO BLUE LEDGE'S PREDECESSOR ON MAY 22, 1929.**

While Gillmor disputes that the surface estate of the Patented Claims was conveyed to Blue Ledge's predecessor by the May 22, 1929 Patent, Gillmor provides no legal basis in the Blue Ledge 1929 Patent for this dispute.<sup>1</sup> That the Blue Ledge 1929 Patent conveyed fee title (surface and mineral estates) to the Patented Claims is a simple matter of law which can be ascertained from the patent itself.

It is basic hornbook law that a mining claim patent includes the surface estate, as well as the mineral estate, unless the patent contains a reservation

---

<sup>1</sup> Instead, Gillmor argues, by reverse logic, that because the Gillmor 1930 Patent was a Stock-Raising Homestead Act patent (which, by statute, must reserve all minerals to the United States), then the Blue Ledge 1929 Patent must not have included the surface estate to the Patented Claims. Gillmor Opening Brief at 14-15. However, the Blue Ledge 1929 Patent obviously was issued before the Gillmor 1930 Patent and the Blue Ledge 1929 Patent includes the surface estate.

excluding the surface estate. [\*St. Louis Mining & Milling Company of Montana v. Montana Mining Co.\*, 194 U.S. 235, 237 \(1904\)](#); [\*Deffebach v. Hawke\*, 115 U.S. 392, 406 \(1885\)](#); [\*Empire State-Idaho Mining & Developing Co. v. Bunker Hill & Sullivan Mining & Concentrating Co.\*, 114 F. 420, 421 \(9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1902\)](#); [\*Superior Co. v. Musselshell County\*, 41 P.2d 14 \(Mont. 1935\)](#); [\*Hinz v. Musselshell Co.\*, 267 P. 1113, 1116 \(Mont. 1928\)](#).

A review of the Blue Ledge 1929 Patent reveals that the only reservations and exceptions in the patent are for: (1) any vested or accrued water rights; (2) a right-of-way for ditches and canals constructed by the authority of the United States; (3) easements, drainage and other means to complete development as provided by the Utah Legislature; and (4) certain rights for transmission line purposes for Utah Power & Light Company. There is no reservation or exception made for the surface estate.

Furthermore, the Utah Supreme Court confirmed the fee title (both surface and mineral estates) in Blue Ledge's predecessor to all of the Clegg Nos. 1-3 and Woodrow Nos. 1-6 patented claims, including the Patented Claims, under this same Blue Ledge 1929 Patent, in [\*United Park City Mines Company v. Estate of Clegg\*, 737 P.2d 173 \(Utah 1987\)](#). Indeed, the decision in that case, in which Gillmor's husband was a witness, is admitted by Gillmor. (Gillmor's Response to Blue Ledge's Statement of Facts ¶¶ 13 and 14; [R. 362](#).)

Finally, even the legal memoranda (Affidavit of H. James Clegg and attached legal memoranda) attached to Gillmor's April 1, 2005 Opposition Memorandum (R. [358-383, Attachment 4](#)), state that the surface estate is included in the Blue Ledge 1929 Patent to the Patented Claims. Indeed, Gillmor has presented no language in the Blue Ledge 1929 Patent or any applicable case law to dispute the legal conclusion that the surface estate to the Patented Claims is included in the Blue Ledge 1929 Patent.

Since the Blue Ledge 1929 Patent conveyed fee simple title (including the surface and mineral estates) to Blue Ledge's predecessor-in-interest, and there is no dispute in the chain of title from this predecessor to Blue Ledge, Blue Ledge holds record title to the Patented Claims. It simply does not matter how many subsequent patents the United States issued to the Patented Claims after the Blue Ledge 1929 Patent because the United States had divested itself of title to the Patented Claims and had no title to convey in subsequent patents.

**III. THE UNITED STATES DID NOT HAVE TITLE TO THE PATENTED CLAIMS AT THE TIME OF THE GILLMOR 1930 PATENT.**

Because the United States conveyed fee title in the Patented Claims to Blue Ledge in the Blue Ledge 1929 Patent, the United States had no interest in the Patented Claims to convey to Gillmor's predecessor in the Gillmor 1930 Patent.

Consequently, no title to the Patented Claims passed under the Gillmor 1930 Patent.

The United States Supreme Court has repeatedly held that when land has previously been patented by the United States, then a subsequent patent by the United States is void. [\*St. Louis Smelting Co. v. Kemp\*, 104 U.S. 636, 640-645 \(1881\); \*Proctor v. Painter\*, 15 F.2d 974 \(9th Cir. 1926\)](#) (citing a lengthy list of United States Supreme Court cases on this point).

Like any other conveyance, once land has been transferred by the United States, it is beyond the authority of the Land Department to transfer it again. [\*St. Louis Smelting\*, 104 U.S. at 641.](#) When the land is already patented, the Land Department has no authority to act, and no authority exists to patent the same land a second time. [\*Id.\* at 646-647.](#) After the first patent is issued, “the United States has no interest left to grant.” [\*Francoeur v. Newhouse\*, 40 F. 618, 623 \(C.C. Cal. 1889\); \*Northern Pac. R. Co. v. Cannon\*, 54 F. 252, 258 \(C.C. Dist. Mont. 1893\); \*Jorgensen v. McAllister\*, 202 P. 1059 \(Idaho 1921\); \*West v. Minneapolis Mining & Smelting Co.\*, 217 P. 342, 343 \(Mont. 1923\)](#) (“where land is not owned by the United States, . . . the land officials are without jurisdiction to dispose of it, and if, in defiance of law, a patent issues to it, the same is ineffectual to pass title and is void from the beginning, and in such case may be assailed in an action of law, and like a void judgment, may be attacked collaterally”). Upon issuance of a patent,

the land becomes private property, subject to the same rules of private ownership prescribed by the laws of the state. [West v. Minneapolis, 217 P. at 344](#) (citing Lindley on Mines § 22).<sup>2</sup>

Because the United States did not hold title to the Patented Claims at the time of the Gillmor 1930 Patent, title to the Patented Claims did not pass to the patentee under the Gillmor 1930 Patent.<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> Although Gillmor argues for the "strong presumption" of the validity of a patent from the United States (Opening Brief at 10-11), Gillmor does not cite a case for the presumption of validity of a subsequent patent when the United States has already transferred title in a previous patent, nor could she, because such proposition is contrary to law.

<sup>3</sup> Blue Ledge is not "seeking . . . annulment "of the Gillmor 1930 Patent, as argued by Gillmor in her Opening Brief. (Opening Brief at 21.) The Gillmor 1930 Patent is not voidable, but void *ab initio* (void from its issuance), since the United States had no interest left in the Patented Claims to transfer in the Gillmor 1930 Patent.

**IV. 43 U.S.C. § 1166 IS INAPPLICABLE BECAUSE THE UNITED STATES DID NOT HAVE TITLE TO THE PATENTED CLAIMS AT THE TIME OF THE GILLMOR 1930 PATENT.**

It is clear from all of the cases regarding the application of [43 U.S.C. § 1166](#) (the "1891 Statute of Limitations"), including the cases cited by Gillmor,<sup>4</sup> that this statute only applies when the United States has title to the property to be conveyed to the patentee at the time of the patent. The purpose of the 1891 Statute of Limitations is to secure and provide marketable title to the patentee six years after issuance of the patent and protect the patent from rescission by the government for various procedural irregularities, withdrawals, or reclassifications. [United States v. Eaton Shale Co.](#), 433 F. Supp. 1256, 1268 (D. Colo. 1977). However, the 1891

---

<sup>4</sup> In the cases cited by Gillmor, the United States had title at the time of patent and conveyed title under the patent to the patentee. Therefore, the 1891 Statute of Limitations protected the patentee from rescission of the patent for various procedural irregularities, such as the government's reclassification or withdrawal of lands from public entry or sale. See [Wollan v. United States Dept. of the Interior](#), 997 F. Supp. 1397 (D. Colo. 1998) (the federal government did convey the land by patent and Wollan argued the patent should not have been issued because of his claims); [State of Alaska v. The First National Bank of Anchorage](#), 689 P.2d 483 (Alaska 1984) (the federal government did convey title to the land by the patent and Alaska argued the patent should not have issued because of prior withdrawals); [United States v. Chandler-Dunbar Water Power Co.](#), 209 U.S. 447 (1908) (the United States conveyed title to two islands by the patent and the United States wanted to rescind the patent by claiming the patent should not have been issued because the land was reserved for public purposes); [State of Louisiana v. Garfield](#), 211 U.S. 70 (1908) (unresolved issues as to whether a patent was issued for swamp lands and whether the statute barred such rescission).

Furthermore, Blue Ledge does not "stand in the shoes" of the United States, nor is Blue Ledge a successor to the United States as the original grantor of the land. In contrast, Wollan "stood in the shoes" of the United States and was a successor-in-interest of the United States because he wanted the patent invalidated so that the land would be returned to the United States. [Wollan](#), 997 F.Supp. at 1398.

Statute of Limitations cannot create title to a patentee when the United States had no title to convey at the time of the patent. [\*United States v. Winona & St. P.R. Co.\*, 165 U.S. 463 \(1897\); \*Northern P.R. Co. v. United States\*, 227 U.S. 355 \(1913\).](#)

In [\*United States v. Chandler-Dunbar\*, 209 U.S. at 450](#), a case cited by Gillmor, Mr. Justice Holmes begins his discussion of the applicability of the 1891 Statute of Limitations by stating that the land must belong to the United States at the time of patent in order for the statute to apply: “This land, whether reserved or not, was public land of the United States, and in kind open to sale and conveyance through the Land Department.” Justice Holmes also cites the earlier case of [\*United States v. Winona & St. T.R. Co.\*, 165 U.S. at 476](#), where Mr. Justice Brewer sets forth the limitation on the application of the 1891 Statute of Limitations:

[T]he act of 1891 . . . provided that suits to vacate and annul patents . . . should only be brought within six years after the date of issue. Under the benign influence of this statute, it would not matter what the mistake or error of the lands department was, what the frauds and misrepresentations of the patentee were, the patent would become conclusive as a transfer of the title, *providing only that the land was public land of the United States, and open to sale and conveyance through the land department.*

[\*165 U.S. at 476\*](#) (emphasis added).

Likewise, in 1913 the United States Supreme Court held the 1891 Statute of Limitations was not available in a suit brought by the United States to annul patents issued in the mistaken belief that the land was owned by the United States

at the time of the patent, when it was not. [\*Northern P.R. Co. v. United States\*, 227 U.S. at 374.](#) When the land was owned by the Yakima Indians, not by the United States, at the time of patent, the 1891 Statute of Limitations did not protect title under the patent from rescission. [\*Id.\*](#)

In addressing the issue of whether the 1891 Statute of Limitations can secure title in a patent when the United States had no title at the time of patent, the Louisiana Supreme Court stated:

The prerequisite to the effectiveness of the statute of limitations in the federal act is a patent issued on lands which the United States has power to dispose of under Acts of Congress or the Constitution. A judicial act purporting to alienate that which was inalienable was, because of the very fact of the inalienability, incapable of being validated because it was more than merely invalid. It was in effect an act transferring nothing and creating nothing. . . . Thus, lands which were inalienable . . . could not be acquired by a mere statute of limitations for there was no title to transfer in the beginning.

[\*Gulf Oil Corporation v. State Mineral Board\*, 317 So.2d 576, 588 \(La. 1975\).](#)

In the instant case, the United States conveyed the Patented Claims to Blue Ledge's predecessor in the Blue Ledge 1929 Patent, so there was no title to the Patented Claims for the United States to transfer to Gillmor's predecessor in the Gillmor 1930 Patent. Since the 1891 Statute of Limitations cannot create title



when there was none to be transferred, the 1891 Statute of Limitations is not applicable.<sup>5</sup>

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